P.002/037

4-80MDP

FILED

No. 311147-III

SEP - 8 2014

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION III
STATE OF WASHINGTON
By

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

JOEL GONZALES.

٧.

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW



William Edelblute, PLLC
Attorney for Petitioner
WSBA 13808
1030 N. Center Parkway
Kennewick, WA 99336
Ph. (509) 737-0073

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Joel Gonzales, Appellant in the Court of Appeals, asks this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Opinion filed by the Court of Appeals on August 7th, 2014, which affirmed Appellant's juvenile convictions. A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-13.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did Petitioner receive an unfair trial because of the trial judge's pre-existing opinions on the significance of an alleged victim's lack of fear of the accused?
- 2. Did the trial court err and deny Petitioner a fair trial by excluding an expert witness on the issue of the significance of the alleged victim's lack of fear of the accused?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner, thirteen-year-old Joel Gonzalez, was charged with three counts of first degree rape of a child, by allegedly anally raping his nine-year-old male cousin. (CP 1-3). No physical evidence was presented at trial.

In addition to the testimony of I.G., the alleged victim, the State presented testimony of D.G., his younger sister, and of their mother, Karla Arroyo.

The State originally charged Count II as occurring July 7th, 2011, but at trial changed he date to June 7th, 2011. CP 1, RP 296:2-14. On the night of June 7th, Joel spent the night at the home of Karla Arroyo. She entered the room and found them "spooning" with their pants down. At that time, both denied any sexual activity. RP 164-65, RP 177-80. Ms. Arroyo did not observe anything else to suggest otherwise. RP 164, 180-81.

At trial, I.G. denied any rape occurred during the June 7th, 2011 incident and could not remember if he was raped anytime during the summer of 2011. RP 50, 107-08.

13:01 Edelblute

Joel testified that on the night of June 7th, 2011, it was hot in the bedroom and he slept only in his underwear, which had slipped down while he slept. He denied committing any sexual activity. RP 23-25, RP 401, 402, 404. After Ms. Arroyo had come into the room, he offered to sleep on the couch, and she declined his offer, but he moved to the couch anyway. RP 403.

Joel denied ever committing any rapes against I.G. RP 404.

On June 23rd, 2011, Ms. Arroyo asked I.G. if he had been the victim of sexual abuse, and related to him that she had been a victim of sexual abuse. After some prodding, I.G. stated that he had been touched by Joel. RP 174-77. i.G. testified that Ms. Arroyo told him five to ten time of her own sexual abuse. RP 86.

Joel's mother, Ms. Arroyo's sister, testified that the day of the "spooning" incident that Ms. Arroyo took Joel and I.G. to see her brother, allowing them to spend most of the day together. RP 388-89.

Joel's mother and grandmother testified that Karla Arroyo continued to leave I.G. and his younger sister at the grandmother's home, even though Joel lived there. RP 299, 301, 328-29, 330, 358, 363, 367-68.

The State argued, and the Court found, that Count I occurred on June 19th, 2011, the last time the two boys spent the night together at their grandmother's home. RP 412, 449. I.G. had instead told a sheriff's deputy that the last rape occurred on June 7th, 2011, the last time Joel spent the night at the home of I.G. CP 49. I.G. gave conflicting accounts at trial of when the last rape occurred. RP 51, 54, 67, 71.

I.G. testified that Joel raped him whenever I.G. spent the night at his grandmother's home, and that it happened about 100 times. RP 65. I.G's younger sister testified that she observed a sexual act by Joel against I.G, at her grandmother's house, but could not remember when it occurred. RP 146-47. I.G. denied anyone else was present during any sexual acts. RP 111-12.

The defense theory was that I.G.'s claims of rapes were not credible, in light of his continued association with Joel, in fact, I.G. would seek out the company of Joel. CP 108-10, CP 148-60. The defense indicated its intent to offer testimony, photos and video of the interaction among Joel, I.G. and D.G. after the rapes were reported to the Sheriff's Office. CP 108-10.

09/08/2014

The Superior Court judge initially ruled that he would not allow such evidence, unless the State opened the door to it. RP 26:21-23.

The trial judge reiterated that such evidence was not relevant, and that the defense position relied upon a false assumption that young children would know something wrong had occurred.

Little kids don't know it's wrong when they're raped and molested. I'm sorry, I can't take judicial notice of that, but I go to the judge schools, like everybody else, and we get the education conferences and we are taught and learn that they don't know it's wrong, they don't know when things are morally incorrect about it.

RP 26-27.

The trial judge suggested that expert testimony would be needed to support a conclusion otherwise. RP 29:14-20.

At trial, I.G. testified that rapes had caused him pain and bruising and that the rapes were a "[b]ad thing, bad thing" which made him feel bad. RP 47-49, 52, 58, 59, 61, 70, 71, 88.

After the State's case-in-chief, the trial judge acknowledged the State had opened the door "somewhat" to I.G.'s interactions with Joel, RP 201-02, and family members testified that I.G. never seemed reluctant or unhappy to be around Joel. RP 206-09, 341.

He would ask to spend time with Joel, even after the allegations were made. RP 306, 338-39.

After the allegations, Joel and I.G. continued to spend time together, and I.G. wanted to have his hair cut like Joel's. Joel's mother took photos and videos of them together after the allegations. RP 306, 316, 332. The photos and video depicts the two having fun together, and I.G. not wanting to leave his grandmother's because he wanted to stay and play with Joel. CP 126-44, RP 318.

The trial judge refused the defense request for him to view the video. RP 319-21. The judge explained that "there's been no significant or substantial evidence of fear or not wanting to be around by [I.G.] shown towards Joel. I find that has been proven beyond a reasonable doubt." RP 320:4-20.

After seeking and accepting the State's stipulation to the content of the videos, the trial judge stated that the interaction between I.G. and Joel did not "really mean a whole lot to the [the Court] because the 18th of July is nearly a month after the last allegation date." RP 316-18, 321.

The grandmother testified that I.G. had been to her home about 100 times since the allegations were made, and had showed no reluctance to be around Joel and in fact he was happy to be around Joel. RP 358-62. I.G.'s mother, Ms. Arroyo, confirmed that same fact. RP 194-95.

After a ten-day recess, the defense moved to introduce expert testimony from Joel's therapist, Sue Huett, to rebut the trial judge's theory regarding the behavior of child victims of sexual abuse. RP 375:18-24.

Defense counsel pointed out that the testimony was offered because of the State's and the court's comments on whether sexually abused children display fear or discomfort around their abusers. RP 376:5-20.

The State objected in part on the basis of lack of timely disclosure, but also on relevance. RP 379-80.

In argument and an offer of proof, it was indicated Ms. Huett had experience with 200-250 child victims of abuse and their abusers. RP 379-83. Ms. Huett was expected to testify that of victims, "virtually one hundred percent of them expressed a fear of the perpetrator and showed that." RP 383:5-9.

The trial judge ultimately excluded the Huett testimony on the basis that it was "just not probative enough for me to bend those rules" regarding timely disclosure of witnesses, because "it's absolutely undisputed in the case" that I.G. loves to spend time with Joel, "but he testifies there's something that goes on after dark in closed doors, in private, that he doesn't like at all." RP 383: 12-18, 25, to RP 384:2.

The Superior Court found Joel guilty of three counts, finding Count I occurred that last time I.G. spent the night at his grandmother's, Count II had occurred the last time Joel spent the night at I.G.'s, June 19, 2011, and Count III occurred June 27th, 2011. RP

In addressing the defense argument that I.G. was not afraid of Joel, the Court found that since the abuse had become so commonplace, that he may not have liked it, but he wouldn't have been afraid. RP 449:10-17.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Summary of Argument

The pre-existing opinions of the trial judge, formed from attendance at judicial trainings, that there is no relevance to whether an alleged victim displays fear or not of the alleged perpetrator, deprived Petitioner of a fair trial.

The trial court erred in excluding expert testimony offered to rebut the judge's own opinion on the relevance of the alleged victim's lack of fear of the accused, especially it was partly on grounds of late disclosure, when the defense could not have foreseen the need to rebut the judge's own opinion.

The trial court judge erred in using his own opinions from

judicial training on a critical issue of credibility

A defendant has "a right to the free judgment of a court or jury, unclouded by bias, prejudice, or fixed or preconceived opinion." Elston v. McGlauflin, 79 Wash. 355, 359, 140 P. 396 (1914). Did that occur in this case? On a critical issue, credibility, the trial court

judge applied specific concepts said to have been acquired in judicial trainings; that child victims of sexual abuse do not realize anything wrong has occurred, and therefore would not have fear of their perpetrator. Conceding that may be true in some cases, the judge did not weigh whether it was the case here or not, he seemed to be saying it would never enter in. A fair judge would have considered the possibility that I.G.'s continued willingness to want to associate with Joel Gonzalez could reflect on the truthfulness of I.G.'s claims of awful acts carried out upon him by Joel.

It was more than just applying common sense, as if that were the case, why would it have to be covered in judicial seminars? Whether or not in a particular case a child's lack of fear of another person meant something would seem to be a factual inference, not a cut in stone rule that never varies.

in State v. Grayson, 154 Wn.2d 333, 343, 111 P.3d 1183 (2005), a judge's refusal to even consider imposing a Drug Offender Sentencing Alternative was reversed, where the judge stated there were no State funds to pay for the treatment, meaning the defendant would get less incarceration but without treatment.

It is clear that the trial court relied on extrajudicial information at the sentencing hearing. Constitutional and

statutory procedures protect defendants from being sentenced on the basis of untested facts. See generally *Blakely v. Washington*, 542 U.S. 296, 124 S.Ct. 2531, 159 L.Ed.2d 403 (2004);

Grayson, 154 Wn.2d at 338-39.

Similarly, in this case, the judge's own statements show he relied upon "extrajudicial information." Grayson is illustrative in that the Supreme Court of Washington draws a line between a judge not having to leave common sense at the door of the courtroom, but also not being allowed to use "adjudicative facts" gained outside that door. Judges don't have to "enter the courtroom with blank minds. Judges are not expected to leave their common sense behind." 154 Wn.2d at 339. But a hearing must be held on "adjudicative facts." "Adjudicative facts are usually those facts that are in issue in a particular case." *Korematsu v. United States*, 584 F.Supp. 1406, 1414 (N.D.Cal.1984); *Grayson*, 154 Wn.2d at 340.

The court should only consider adjudicative evidence that the parties in an adversarial context have "the opportunity to scrutinize, test, contradict, discredit, and correct." George D. Marlow, From Black Robes to White Lab Coats: The Ethical Implications of a Judge's Sua Sponte, Ex Parte Acquisition of Social and Other Scientific Evidence During the Decision-Making Process, 72 St. John's L.Rev. 291, 319 (1998) (citing E.I. du Pont de Nemours & Co. v.

Collins, 432 U.S. 46, 57, 97 S.Ct. 2229, 53 L.Ed.2d 100 (1977));

Grayson, 154 Wn.2d at 340.

Underlying the requirements laid out by the Court's ruling in *Grayson* was the "principle of due process." *Id.* Here the judge repeatedly said he did not doubt that I.G. had no fear of Joel. And, repeatedly said it could not have any significance. But it was the right of the Defendant to at least argue that fact had significance that was not afforded. The judge was dead-set that it simply could not mean anything.

It would be different if the judge had said, the lack of fear could mean there was reasonable doubt about I.G.'s allegations, but given all the circumstances, such as the child's youth, etc., he found in this particular case, that I.G. was still abused.

Instead the judge was saying there can be **no** circumstances under which an alleged victim's lack of fear of the alleged perpetrator may create reasonable doubt. He would not even consider it from the outset. That is not a fair trial.

09/08/2014

Pursuant to ER 605, the defense was not required to object to the judge's expression of his opinions at the time.

The use by the judge of his pre-formed opinion on an adjudicate fact to convict Joel Gonzales violated his right to a fair trial as guaranteed by Const. Art. I, sec. 22.

Review should be accepted by the Court pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) as the Court of Appeals decision violates the standards set forth in *Grayson*, supra, and in *Elston v. McGlauflin*, supra. And review should be accepted RAP 13.4(b)(3) because the decision of the Court of Appeals violates due process of law and the right to a fair trial as guaranteed by Const. Art. 1, sec. 22.

2. The trial court erred in excluding expert testimony offered by
the defense on the issue of the alleged victim's lack of fear
of the accused

"Exclusion or suppression of evidence is an extraordinary remedy and should be applied narrowly." *State v Hutchinson*, 135 Wn.2d 863, 882, 959 P.2d 1061 (1998).

09/08/2014

Discovery decisions based on CrR 4.7 are within the sound discretion of the trial court, *State v. Yates*, 111 Wn.2d 793, 797, 765 P.2d 291 (1988), and the factors to be considered in deciding whether to exclude evidence as a sanction are: (1) the effectiveness of less severe sanctions; (2) the impact of witness preclusion on the evidence at trial and the outcome of the case; (3) the extent to which the prosecution will be surprised or prejudiced by the witness's testimony; and (4) whether the violation was willful or in bad faith.

Hutchinson, 135 Wn.2d at 882-83.

Less severe sanctions should have been imposed, such as affording the State, after a ten day recess anyway, additional time to interview the witness and determine if the State wanted to procure its own expert on the subject. The impact upon the case is indeed heavy, as the trial court judge, as argued above, said he was relying upon knowledge gain in judicial trainings, not on common knowledge, and the defense had no way of knowing that until trial started, and no other way of countering it, since the judge indicated it was specialized knowledge. The prosecution was in fact not prejudiced as presumably the State knew at some point that I.G.'s continued association with Joel would be a factual issue. The State received an advantage of the judge's use of his own knowledge of adjudicative facts from judicial training that supported the State's theory, but countered the defense theory. The "violation"

was not in bad faith, as the defense did not know until the start of trial that the judge was relying upon adjudicative facts learned by him from judicial trainings.

Certainly the evidence was, at a minimum, relevant. "The standard for relevancy is whether the evidence gives rise to reasonable inferences regarding [a] contested matter or throws any light upon it." *State v. Whalon*, 1 Wn. App. 785, 791, 464 P.2d 730 (1970).

Evidence of the behavior of child victims of sexual abuse is relevant to whether or not the abuse occurred and where necessary to rebut contrary theories explaining the behavior of the alleged victim. *State v. Stevens*, 58 Wn. App. 478, 497-98, 794 P.2d 38 (1990).

The right to compulsory process guarantees defendants the right to present a defense and their version of the facts. *Washington v. Texas*, 388 U.S. 14, 17-19, 87 S. Ct. 1920, 18 L.Ed.2d 1019 (1967).

At some point, a court may so restrict a defendant's opportunity to present evidence to support a theory of the case that courts of review will step in and conclude that she was denied the

09/08/2014

right to a meaningful defense. See *State v. Jones*, 168 Wn.2d 713, 721, 230 P.3d 576 (2010).

"The right of an accused in a criminal trial to due process is, in essence, the right to a fair opportunity to defend against the State's accusations." *Chambers v. Mississippi*, 410 U.S. 284, 294, 93 S.Ct. 1038, 35 L.Ed.2d 297 (1973). A defendant's right to an opportunity to be heard in his defense, including the rights to examine witnesses against him and to offer testimony, is basic in our system of jurisprudence. Id. "The right to confront and cross-examine adverse witnesses is [also] guaranteed by both the federal and state constitutions." *State v. Darden*, 145 Wn.2d 612, 620, 41 P.3d 1189 (2002) (citing *Washington v. Texas*, 388 U.S. 14, 23, 87 S.Ct. 1920, 18 L.Ed.2d 1019 (1967)).

Jones, at 720.

"These rights are not absolute, of course. Evidence that a defendant seeks to introduce 'must be of at least minimal relevance." Id., quoting *Darden*, 145 Wn.2d at 622.

The Supreme Court of Washington in Jones held: "The trial court prevented him from presenting a meaningful defense. This violates the Sixth Amendment." *Jones*, at 721.

Review should be accepted of this issue under RAP 13.4(b)(3) as the ruling of the trial court in this case violates the right to call witnesses under the Sixth Amendment, and under Const. Art. I, sec. 22.

3. The cumulative effect of the errors requires reversal.

This Court may reverse a conviction when the combined effect of errors during trial denied the defendant his right to a fair trial, even if each error standing alone would be harmless. *State v. Venegas*, 155 Wn.App. 507, 520, 228 P.3d 813 (2010). The test is whether there is a substantial likelihood that the cumulative effect of the errors denied the accused a fair trial. *State v. Jones*, 144 Wn. App. 284, 301, 183 P.3d 307 (2008).

Where the case turns upon the credibility of witnesses, as here, the combined errors can have a greater impact on the verdict. *Venegas*, 155 Wn. App. at 526, *Jones*, 144 Wn. App. at 300-01; *State v. Alexander*, 64 Wn. App. 147, 154, 822 P.2d 1250 (1992).

F. CONCLUSION

The Court should accept review, reverse the convictions, and remand for a new trial before a different judge, at which the defense should be allowed to call their expert witness, and at which the trial judge shall give consideration to all appropriate factors in determining the credibility of I.G., the alleged victim.