Supreme Court No. 90768-4 Court of Appeals No. 21114-7-III

SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Oct 07, 2014, 3:29 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

RECEIVED

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

۷.

JOEL GONZALES, Petitioner.

ANSWER OF RESPONDENT

Rea L. Culwell Columbia County Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for State of Washington, Respondent

116 N. 3rd Dayton, WA 99328 509-382-1197 WSBA 32080

b. Issue not appropriate for Review
	2.	Judge appropriately based findings and conclusions on witness Testimony9
	3.	Joel waived expert testimony argument on appeal11
	4.	Court properly excluded "expert testimony 12
	5.	No error, therefore no cumulative error 12
F.	СС	DNCLUSION14

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

•

•

Table of Cases

Elston v. McGlauflin, 72 Wash. 355, 140 P. 396 (1994)9, 10
State v. Calle, 125 Wn.2d 769, 888 P.2d 155 (1995)8
State v. Gordon, 172 Wn.2d 671, 260 P.3d 884 (2011)
State v. Grayson, 154 Wn.2d 333, 111 P.3d 1183 (2005) 10
State v. Hutchinson, 135 Wn.2d 863, 959 P.2d 1061 (1998)11, 12
State v. Laviollette, 118 Wn.2d 670, 826 P.2d 684 (1992)
State v. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d, 217 P.3d 756 (2009)
State v. Perez-Cervantes, 141 Wn.2d 468, 6 P.3d 1160 (2000) 12
State v. Powell, 166 Wn.2d 73, 206 P.3d 321 (2009)
State v. Weber, 159 Wn.2d 252, 149 P.3d 656 (2006)14
<i>State v. Weber</i> , 159 Wn.2d 252, 149 P.3d 656 (2006)14 Rules and Regulations
Rules and Regulations
Rules and Regulations CrR 4.7 11
Rules and Regulations CrR 4.7 11 ER 201 7
Rules and Regulations CrR 4.7 11 ER 201 7 ER 401 12
Rules and Regulations CrR 4.7 11 ER 201 7 ER 401 12 ER 605 7

A. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

State of Washington, Respondent in the Court of Appeals, asks this court to deny review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of Petitioner, Joel Gonzales, brief filed in this matter.

B. COUNTER STATEMENT OF THE ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS

1. Did the Court of Appeals err in terminating review and affirming the conviction?

C. COUNTER STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- Did trial court base its findings of fact and conclusions of law on appropriate evaluation of witness testimony, thus Joel received a fair trial?
- 2. Did trial court properly exclude witness whose proposed testimony regarded the victim's lack of fear of Joel, thus Joel received a fair trial?

D. COUNTER STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Joel, age 13, repeatedly raped his 9 year old male cousin I.G. Joel was found guilty of three counts of first degree. (RP 448: 21-25 and 157-159 generally). Karla Arroyo is the mother of I.G. and his brother, D.G., then age 8, (RP 156: 9-14). The cousins, Joel, I.G. and D.G. spent significant amounts of time together and would spend the night together on occasion. (RP 159: 15 – 160: 9). In the summer of 2011, Karla became concerned for the safety of her son, I.G. (RP 161: 9-12). I.G. had begun to have accidents involving bowel movements. (RP 160: 10-18). In June of 2011, Karla discovered Gonzalez and I.G. with their boxers down below their bottoms, "spooning" with I.G.'s back to Gonzalez's front. (RP 161:14-17, 162: 6-17 and 163:7-24).

Karla confronted Gonzalez who denied that he had done anything wrong. (RP 164: 5-8, 164:19-22 and 403:7-11). Karla made Joel move out of the room with I.G. and sleep on the couch. (RP 403: 14-17). Approximately three weeks after the spooning incident, Karla asked I.G. about his bowel problems again. (RP, 165: 18-25). Karla asked I.G. if anyone had ever touched him inappropriately. (RP 167: 5-7). I.G. looked at Karla with a blank stare and Karla asked if anybody had ever stuck anything in his bottom, I.G. said yes. (RP 167: 6-14).

Karla then asked him to tell her who it was and explained that she needed to know so she could help him. (RP 167: 16-22). I.G. told her that it was Joel (Joel). (RP 167: 16-24).

Karla told her mother, Josie Arroyo and Joel's mother, Xochitl Arroyo and Karla's family's counselor. (RP 169: 2-13). Xochitl admitted she knew about the sexual abuse and apologized. (RP 169:15-23). Karla reported the rape to the Columbia County Sheriff Office. (RP 169: 24-25 and 170:1).

At the fact finding, I.G. testified that his cousin Joel sticks his thingamajig in his (I.G.'s) butt. (RP 45: 14-1, 48:12-25 and 49:1-9). I.G. testified that a thingamajig is a private part. (RP 48: 23-25 and 49:1-6). I.G. testified that this began when he was in preschool. (RP 49:10-20). I.G. testified that this occurred more than five or six times. (RP 49: 22-25 and 50: 1-2).

I.G. also testified that Joel said he was going to put a hanger in his butt, but he could not remember whether or not it happened. (RP 62:9-14). I.G. did state he remembered it hurt. (RP 63:7-17). I.G. testified that Joel would stick his thingymajig in I.G.'s butt whenever he spent the night at his grandma's house or when Joel spent the night

at his house. (RP 65:7-13). I.G. testified that it would always happen in bed and that it happened over 100 times. (RP 65:14-23).

I.G. testified that it also happened at his aunt Xochitl's in the living room when they slept on the sofa. (RP 66:17-25).

I. G. testified that he did not remember where they were at the first time that Appellant stuck his thingymajig in his butt because it happened five years before. (RP 66:1-4). He testified that he could remember that it started when he was about three or four. (RP 67:5-12). I.G. testified that the last time he remembered something happening was after he talked with Columbia County Sheriff's Deputy Foley, when he spent the night at his grandma's and Joel was there. (RP 69:1-25). I.G. testified that when Joel put his thingymajig in his butt, that it felt bad, gross and disgusting. (RP 70: 5-10). I.G. testified that he realized it was bad when he was five. (RP 70:7-10). I. G. testified that he probably remembered things better when he talked with Deputy Foley. (RP 136; 3-6).

At the fact finding, I.G. was nine years old. (RP 43; 9-10). I.G. was subject to cross examination for over three hours. (RP 125; 20-25). I.G. testified consistently that Appellant raped him. (See generally testimony of I.G. RP 41-137).

I.G.'s sister, D.G. also testified at the trial. (RP 156:19-24 and RP 137-155 generally). D.G. testified that she saw Joel stick his private part in her brother's private part. (RP 146: 13-25).

Joel denied ever raping his cousin. The defense's theory was that the rapes never occurred because I.G. continued to have contact with Joel after the rapes were reported to the Sheriff's Office, allegedly not showing any fear of Joel.

Prior to testimony being taken, the court considered the admissibility of testimony, photos and video of Joel, I.G. and D.G. interacting after the rapes were reported. CP 108-10. The judge stated "... I go to the judge schools, like everybody else, and we get the education conferences and we are taught and learn that [child sexual assault victims] don't know it's wrong, they don't know when things are morally incorrect about it." Despite initially denying the request, the judge permitted the testimony and evidence.

Maria Emma Saldivar Guuiterres, aunt to both Joel and I.G. testified that she did not see I.G. exhibit fear or unhappiness when around Joel. (RP 206 generally and 208;19-25 and 209:1). Both Xochitl and Josie testified that Joel and I.G. got along together and that I.G. did not express fear around Joel. The trial judge found beyond a reasonable doubt that that there was no significant or substantial evidence of fear by I.G. of Joel or that I.G. did not want to be around Joel. RP 320:4-20. Joel sought to have the judge watch the video which the judge refused, however the judge accepted the State's stipulation that the videos showed positive interaction between Joel and I.G. RP 316-18, 321.

On the last day of trial, Joel sought to introduce the expert testimony of Susan Huett, his counselor. Defense counsel explained that Ms. Huett had worked with 200 to 250 child sexual abuse victims and that she would testify that virtually all juvenile victims of sexual abuse showed fear in the presence of the perpetrator. RP 375: 18-24.

The court did not permit Ms. Huett to testify, finding the proposed testimony was not sufficiently probative. It stated "it's absolutely undisputed in the case that [I.G.] dearly loves his cousin, Joel. He loves to be around him That is undisputed in the record. I don't need an expert to tell me that." RP at 383.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE ACCEPTED.

 Error claimed of Judge's use of "opinion" not raised at trial, not raised before Court of Appeals and not a

manifest error affecting a constitutional right; should not be reviewed.

Joel did not object to the trial court's statements regarding his education about child sexual assault at the time of trial. RAP 13.3(a) allows a party to seek discretionary review by the Supreme Court of a decision of the Court of Appeals. Here, Joel appealed his conviction to Division III of the Court of Appeals arguing 1) the trial judge's comments regarding the behaviors of child victims of sexual abuse constituted improper judicial notice of facts in violation of ER 201 and was judicial testimony contrary to ER 605; and 2) the trial court erred in excluding a defense witness; and 3) the cumulative error deprived Joel of a fair trial. *Petitioner's Brief* at Part B.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the decision, finding that the subject statements of the court were part of its oral explanation for its evidentiary decisions and not as a basis for its findings of fact or conclusions of law, which were based on witness testimony and that the court did not abuse its discretion by excluding the expert's testimony as not relevant. *Id.*

Now, Joel is attempting to argue a completely different issue before this court, an issue that was not addressed at the trial level, or at

the Court of Appeals level. Joel is now arguing that "the trial court judge erred in using his own opinions from judicial training on a critical issue of credibility." *Id.* Raising such issue now, is not permitted and should be denied. An issue not raised or briefed in the Court of Appeals and not of manifest constitutional error will not be considered by this court. *State v. Laviollette*, 118 Wn.2d 670, 679, 826 P.2d 684 (1992), (overruled on separate grounds as recognized by *State v. Calle*, 125 Wn.2d 769, 888 P.2d 155 (1995); RAP 2.5(a).

This court does not review an issue raised for the first time on a request for review unless it involves a "manifest error affecting a constitutional right." RAP 2.5(a)(3). To be manifest, Joel must show that the asserted error had practical and identifiable consequences at trial. *State v. Gordon*, 172 Wn.2d 671, 676, 260 P.3d 884 (2011) (quoting *State v. O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d 91, 99, 217 P.3d 756 (2009)). Joel does not identify an error of constitutional magnitude, provide a supporting constitutional theory, or show how the alleged error actually affected his rights at trial.

Evidentiary issues are not errors of constitutional magnitude. State v. Powell, 166 Wn.2d 73, 84, 206 P.3d 321 (2009). The issue is not properly before the court and request for review should be denied.

 Judge appropriately based his findings of fact or conclusions of law on witness testimony.

The finding by the judge was based upon the testimony of the victim, I.G., the testimony of his sister, D.G. who witnessed a rape and the testimony of Karla, I.G. and D.G.'s mother and the State's stipulation to the content of the video. Joel argues that the judge improperly used his "opinions from judicial training" to determine the credibility of a witness. Evaluated in context, the court's statements about the behavior of child victims of abuse were merely part of its explanations for evidentiary rulings regarding the admissibility of photographs and video of Joel with his cousins and the propriety of allowing a defense witness to testify. The judge was explaining why he thought that evidence regarding the lack of fear of a very young victim was not probative to the issue of the rapes. Regardless, the judge allowed such testimony and stipulation and is presumed to consider all evidence when making his rulings and findings.

Joel cites to *Elston v. McGlauflin*, 72 Wash. 355, 359, 140 P. 396 (1994), for the proposition¹ that the judge here, was biased,

¹ Unlike here, at the Court of Appeals, Div. III, Joel cited *Elston* to argue that the judge "inserted himself as a witness" and "obtained independent

prejudiced or had a fixed or preconceived opinion. *Petitioner's Br.* at
9. In *Elston*, a negligent construction of an apartment building, the
judge visited the site of an apartment building without the knowledge
of the parties or counsel. *Elston*, 79 Wash. at 359. *Elston* is inapposite.
The trial judge in this case did not conduct an independent investigation
or make his decision based upon independent experience; he simply
explained evidentiary rulings and made his decision based on the
testimony before him.

Joel next relies on *State v. Grayson*, 154 Wn.2d 333, 343, 111 P.3d 1183 (2005) for the claim that the judge here used extrajudicial information to the prejudice of Joel. *Grayson* a trial court denied a Drug Offender Sentencing Alternative (DOSA) request because of the State's lack of funding for the DOSA program. *Id.* at 337. The Supreme Court, in a five to four decision stated that a trial court cannot categorically refuse to consider DOSA and, a lack of funding was not a fact in the record and was not a legitimate reason for denying the alternative sentence. *Id.* The court recognized, however, that general information about a sentencing alternative, such as for whom the

Appeals rejected this argument.

program is intended, is the kind of information that helps a judge exercise discretion and the dissent noted that the trial court had determined that a DOSA sentence would not benefit Grayson or the community, so the court had properly exercised its discretion.

Here, the court properly exercised its discretion, considered the relevancy of evidence to make a ruling, one that ultimately placed all of Joel's relevant evidence of lack of fear before the court. The petition for review should be denied. Joel's argument is without merit and review should be denied.

3. Joel waived argument on appeal of admission of expert testimony.

On appeal, Joel claims that *State. v. Hutchinson*, 135 Wn.2d 863, 959 P.2d 1061 (1998), requires admission of his expert, Ms. Huett's testimony. *Hutchinson* involved the propriety of excluding evidence as a sanction for a discovery violation under CrR 4.7, requiring factors a trial court must consider before excluding testimony. *Hutchinson*, 135 Wn.2d at 882-83. At trial, Joel did not argue that *Hutchinson* warranted admission; instead, defense counsel sought to admit the testimony as relevant for impeachment purposes. No error can be assigned to an evidentiary ruling that the court did not address.

See State v. Perez-Cervantes, 141 Wn.2d 468, 482, 6 P.3d 1160 (2000). Joel waived this argument on appeal and his request for review should be denied.

4. Court properly excluded "expert" testimony.

Even if this court were to consider the issue, *Hutchinson* is inapplicable here. The trial court did not exclude Ms. Huett's testimony as a sanction for a discovery violation; the sole basis for exclusion was the court's determination that the evidence was not relevant. *Hutchinson* does not apply and the petition should be denied.

Joel also argues that the evidence of the behavior of child victims of sexual abuse is relevant. *Petitioner's Brief*, at p. 15. Only relevant evidence is admissible. Under ER 401, evidence is relevant if it makes "the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." The court did not abuse its discretion when it excluded the evidence as irrelevant under ER 401. Ms. Huett would have testified that, in her experience, child victims of sexual abuse typically show fear around their abusers. This evidence was of marginal, if any, relevance as to whether the rapes occurred in this case. Numerous witnesses testified that I.G. and D.G. did not show fear when they were around Joel in public during family gatherings. However, the evidence established that the sexual abuse occurred when the children were alone, in private; thus, the actions and behavior of I.G. and D.G. in public was of little or no relevance in determining whether the rapes occurred. The trial court correctly pointed this out. The trial court had a basis for excluding the testimony and did not abuse its discretion in its exclusion; the petition for review should be denied.

Though Joel does not specifically cite ER 702^2 , it appears that he argues that he had no way of "countering" the knowledge the trial court gained in judicial trainings except through expert testimony – in other words, through ER 702 evidence. The judge was not asked to address whether Ms. Huett's testimony satisfied ER 702; it excluded the evidence as irrelevant under ER 401. The court did no err and the petition for review should be denied.

² If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise

5. No error, therefore no cumulative error.

Under the cumulative error doctrine, a conviction may be reversed when the combined effect of trial errors effectively denies the defendant's right to a fair trial, even if each error alone would be harmless. *State v. Weber*, 159 Wn.2d 252, 279, 149 P.3d 646 (2006). Cumulative error, however, does not apply where there are no errors or the errors are few and have little or no effect on the trial's outcome. *Id.* Because there are no errors here, cumulative error does not apply. Joel's petition for review should be denied.

F. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the court should deny the petition for review.